STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by closing the courtroom for the testimony of two State witnesses based solely on the fear of the witnesses to testify?

II. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by admitting two out-of-court photographic lineup identifications and subsequent in-court identifications by two State witnesses of Appellant where the only identifying characteristics of Appellant before being shown the lineup was that he wore dark clothes and was dark skinned, where the witnesses covered the faces of the pictures in the lineup to show only the eyes, where Appellant was identified only by his eyes, yet where neither witness could identify any distinguishing characteristics of Appellants eyes despite a large brown scar on Appellant's eye?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Ricky S. Bowman was indicted by the Richland County grand jury on April 15, 2010, for first degree burglary, armed robbery, kidnapping, common law assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 8, lines 2-7; R. 474 – R. 483 (Indictments). The charges arose out of Appellant's alleged participation in a home invasion on the night of November 25, 2008. R. 474 – R. 483 (Indictments).

Appellant's case proceeded to trial before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr, and a jury, from November 7 through 9, 2011. Mark Schnee (Counsel) represented Appellant, while April Sampson and Britton All represented the State. R. 1. During trial, Appellant presented alibi and identity defenses. The jury found Appellant guilty on all charges, and the trial court imposed the following concurrent sentences of incarceration: twenty years each for first degree burglary, armed robbery, and kidnapping; ten years for ABHAN; and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 458, lines 9-25; R. 470, lines 9-24; R. 484 – R. 488 (Sentence sheets).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Shamael Coit (Shamael), her brother Korey Coit (Korey), Shamael's minor child (Child), and Regina Dennis (Regina) were all at the apartment of Deloris Dennis (Deloris) on the night of November 25, 2008. R. 175, lines 3-22; R. 204, line 5—R. 205, line 3; R. 237, line 16—R. 238, line 17. Sometime between 9:00 pm and 11:00 pm, while watching The Housewives of Atlanta, four armed men broke through the door. One of the men, Sean Toran (Toran) was unmasked, while the remaining three wore hoodies and bandannas to cover their heads and faces. The gunmen questioned the occupants of Deloris' apartment regarding an individual named "Black Shawn," and the location of drugs and guns. R. 176, line 14—R. 177, line 7; R. 184, lines 3-14; R. 198, lines 7-13; R. 205, lines 5-8; R. 207, line 13—R. 209, line 4; R. 241, lines 16—R. 242, line 18.

At a point after the occupants indicated they did not know who Black Shawn was, or the location of any drugs or guns, Deloris was struck twice on the head by one of the three masked assailants whom she described as short and brown skinned. R. 245, lines 1-25. At trial, Deloris indicated she saw the man's eyebrows and eyes for "maybe like a minute or more, two." R. 246, lines 1-23. The same masked assailant also pointed his gun at Shamael while she sat on the couch holding Child, and threatened her. R. 211, line 3—R. 213, line 3. Shamael's trial testimony also indicated she could only see the eyes and eyebrows of the assailant when she looked at him for what she approximated as two to three minutes. R. 213, line 20—R. 214, line 2; R. 277, lines 1-21. After realizing they had entered the wrong apartment, the four gunmen left, taking cell phones, purses, and a wallet on the way out, and threatened to kill the occupants of the apartment if they called the police. Shots were heard outside, and Shamael and Child, Regina, Deloris, and Korey left soon after; Deloris was

taken to the hospital where she stayed overnight. R. 185, R. 187, line 18; R. 196, line 16—R. 197, line 21; R. 214, lines 250, line 22—R. 215, line 2; R. 216, line 22—R. 217, line 17; R. 218, lines 12-18; R. 229, line 5—R. 230, line 8; R. 248, line 21—R. 249, line 2; R. 263, lines 9-16.

Deloris returned to her apartment the following day, as did Regina and Shamael, and called the police. R. 187, line 2—R. 188, line 4; R. 218, lines 1-7; R. 252, lines 12—R. 253, line 23. Over a week later, Shamael, Regina, and Deloris were contacted by then Investigator William Pegram (Pegram) of the Columbia Police Department on December 4, 2008, who asked the three to come to the police station for the purpose of giving statements; the police “also said that we may have the suspects, to come in and do a photo lineup.” R. 188, lines 12-18; R. 218, lines 12-25; R. 254, lines 2-10; R. 330, line 16—R. 331, line 10.

When examining the lineup containing Appellant’s photograph, Shamael and Deloris both covered the top and bottom portions of the image with either paper or their hands such that only the eyes and eyebrows were showing. Based upon this view, they indicated to Pegram that Appellant was the masked assailant that struck Deloris and threatened Shamael. R. 219, line 15—R. 221, line 12; R. 255, line 23—R. 256, line 24; R. 331, lines 11-17; R. 332, line 16—R. 333, line 14. Although Shamael testified that Appellant’s eyes were brown and set a little further apart from her own, and Deloris indicated at trial that the suspect’s eyebrows were “a little bushy,” neither witness noticed any scars or distinguishing features about Appellant’s eyes themselves, such as a large, dark brown spot on his right eyeball. R. 227, lines 1-21; R. 264, lines 17—R. 265, line 24.

On the day of Appellant’s trial, the State made a pre-trial motion to close the courtroom to the public for the testimony of three of its witnesses: Shamael, Regina, and

Deloris. The State argued the witnesses were afraid to testify due to alleged threats. R. 28, line 13—R. 29, line 2. Specifically, the State asserted the following to why the courtroom should be closed due to the fears of Shamael and Regina: (1) the threats made during the incident itself in 2008; (2) that postings were allegedly made on Facebook approximately one year before the trial “asking if [Shamael] was the girl who was broken in on;” (3) that her brother Korey received a contact on Facebook from Joanna indicating “she couldn’t just stand by and watch her brother go to prison. She further stated that the system doesn’t care about him being there and we shouldn’t send more black men to jail and to please not send her brother to prison, let him be out so he can be a father;” that Regina received a contact from an unknown source on MySpace in 2008 stating that they had her purse and wanted to return it to her. R. 28, line 13—R. 29, line 2; R. 472 – R. 473 (Court’s Ex. Nos. 1 and 2).¹

Over Counsel’s repeated objections, and without examining any of the alleged documents containing purported threats, the trial court agreed to close the courtroom for the pre-trial and trial testimony of both Regina and Shamael, holding “I don’t know who is making all of these alleged threats, but I’ll grant the motion.” R. 29, lines 3—R. 31, line 25.² Immediately prior to Deloris’ testimony pre-trial hearing, the trial court ordered the courtroom cleared of all nonessential personnel, which remained closed for the pre-trial

¹ The following day, the State produced affidavits from both Regina and Shamael, which were signed and notarized on the second day of trial: November 8, 2013. R. 472 – R. 473 (Court’s Ex. Nos. 1 and 2).

² Counsel again objected when the State indicated in opening statements that Korey would not testify due to fear; Counsel asserted this further exacerbated the prejudice flowing from the trial court’s closure of the courtroom for the testimony of the first two witnesses before the jury. R. 165, line 19—R. 166, line 11; R. 170, line 13—R. 172, line 12. Counsel also renewed his objections at the close of the State’s case, at the close of evidence, and again after the jury returned its verdict. R. 381, line 25—R. 382, line 2; R. 419, line 19—R. 420, line 3; R. 464, lines 17-22.

testimony Shamael, who testified immediately after Deloris, and was later closed again for Regina. R. 51, lines 3-15; R. 70, lines 3-10; R. 119, line 10—R. 120, line 13.

The court also held a pre-trial hearing pursuant to Neil v. Biggers. Pegram made six-pack photographic lineups with Appellant and Toran. R. 87, line 18-2—R. 88, line 15; R. 330, lines 16-25. Deloris stated that she was called by Pegram, who asked her “would I come and see if I could identify them.” R. 60, lines 16-17. Pegram later admitted at trial that the only identifying characteristics given regarding Appellant’s alleged appearance was that the suspect was a short, brown skinned man; prior to the lineup, nothing was ever stated about the eyes of the assailants. R. 331, line 21-25. Only Shamael and Deloris identified Appellant in the lineup, based solely upon his eyes; Toran was also identified. R. 53, lines 23-24; R. 60, line 18—R. 63, line 18; R. 76, line 22—R. 79, line 23. Afterward, Pegram told Shamael and Deloris that the suspects they identified were Appellant and Toran. R. 232, lines 10-16. Yet, even when the witnesses gave statements to Pegram after the photographic lineup was finished, neither Shamael nor Deloris mentioned any description of Appellant’s eyes. R. 98, line 1—R. 99, line 12; R. 101, lines 6-20; see also R. 367, lines 14-21; R. 362, line 12—R. 366, line 4.

Over Counsel’s objections, the trial court held that the lineups were not unduly suggestive; further, the court indicated that even the lineups were unduly suggestive, the Biggers factors supported admission of the evidence. R. 136, line 7—R. 139, line 7. Accordingly, the trial court allowed the out-of-court identifications by Shamael and Deloris, and ruled that their in-court identifications “would not be objectionable.” R. 139, lines 9-14. During trial, the court permitted in and out-of-court identifications of Appellant. R. 220, line 16—R. 224, line 23; R. 255, line 23—R. 258, line 17.

At the end of Appellant's trial, the jury found him guilty as charged. R. 458, lines 9-25. The trial court sentenced Appellant to a total of twenty years incarceration. R. 470, lines 9-24; R. 484 – R. 488 (Sentence sheets).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court reversibly erred by closing the courtroom for the testimony of two State witnesses based solely on the fear of the witnesses to testify.

The trial court reversibly erred by closing the courtroom during the pre-trial testimony of three State witnesses, and the trial testimony of two State witnesses. Such action by the court violated Appellant's right to a public trial through the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, and Article I, Section 14 of the State Constitution of South Carolina.

“The Sixth Amendment directs, in relevant part, that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial” Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S.Ct. 721, 722 (2010); see also State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 611, 274 S.E.2d 411, 413 (1981) (acknowledging the right to an open trial under both state and federal constitutions). Further, “[t]he Court in In re. Oliver, 333 U.S. 257, 273, 68 S.Ct. 499 (1948), made it clear that this right extends to the States. The Sixth Amendment right, as the quoted language makes explicit, is the right of the accused.” Presley, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S.Ct. at 722. In this vein, “[o]ur cases have uniformly recognized that the public-trial guarantee as one created for the benefit of the defendant.” Id. 558 U.S. 209, 130 S.Ct. at 724. Also, “to the extent there is an independent public interest in the Sixth Amendment public-trial guarantee, it applies with full force to suppression hearings.” Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 65 n.5, 104 S.Ct. 2210, 2216 n.5 (1984).

“In addition to ensuring that judge and prosecutor carry out their duties properly, a public trial encourages witnesses to come forward and discourages perjury.” Waller, 467 U.S. at 65, 104 S.Ct. at 2215. “And without exception all courts have held that an accused is at the very least entitled to have his friends, relatives and counsel present, no matter what the

offense he may be charged.” Oliver, 333 U.S. at 271-72, 68 S.Ct. at 507. Therefore, “[i]n view of this nation’s historic distrust of secret proceedings, their inherent dangers to freedom, and the universal requirement of our federal and state governments that criminal trials be public, the Fourteenth Amendment’s guarantee that no one shall be deprived of his liberty without due process of law means at least that an accused cannot be thus sentenced to prison.” Oliver, 333 U.S. at 273, 68 S.Ct. at 507.

Although “the right to an open trial may give way in certain cases to other rights or interests, such as the defendant’s right to a fair trial or the government’s interest in inhibiting disclosure of sensitive information,” instances such as these “will be rare . . . and the balance of the interests must be struck with special care.” Waller, 467 U.S. at 45, 104 S.Ct. at 2215; see also Presley, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S.Ct. at 724. Thus, the presumption of openness may be overcome only under certain stringent circumstances: (1) “the party seeking to close the hearing must advance an overriding interest that is likely to be prejudiced;” (2) “the closure must be no broader than necessary to protect that interest;” (3) “the trial court must consider reasonable alternatives to closing the proceeding;” and (4) “it must make findings adequate to support the closure.” See Presley, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S.Ct. at 724; see also Waller, 467 U.S. at 48, 104 S.Ct. at 2216 (citing Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court of California, 464 U.S. 501, 511-12, 104 S.Ct. 819, 824 (1984)).

In the present case, the trial court erroneously granted the State’s motion, and closed the courtroom for testimony of Deloris, Shamael, and Regina during the Biggers suppression hearing, as well as during the trial testimony of Regina and Shamael. First, the only interest offered by the State in support of its motion was the naked assertion that the witnesses were afraid based on prior contacts through social media which they speculated

were related to the defendant. Specifically, the State asserted the following to why the courtroom should be closed due to the fears of Shamael and Regina: (1) the threats made during the incident itself in 2008; (2) that postings were allegedly made on Facebook approximately one year before the trial “asking if [Shamael] was the girl who was broken in on;” (3) that her brother Korey received a contact on Facebook from Joanna indicating “she couldn’t just stand by and watch her brother go to prison.”³ She further stated that the system doesn’t care about him being there and we shouldn’t send more black men to jail and to please not send her brother to prison, let him be out so he can be a father;” that Regina received a contact from an unknown source on MySpace in 2008 stating that they had her purse and wanted to return it to her. R. 28, line 13—R. 29, line 2; R. 472 – R. 473 (Court’s Ex. Nos. 1 and 2).

However, as to the first concern, the alleged threat was made three years prior to Appellant’s trial, and Appellant was in jail. Thus, even if Appellant threatened the witnesses during the incident, such a threat was far too attenuated, and the ability to carry it out implausible. Further, the right to a public trial would be too easily eroded if any person subjected to a home invasion or armed robbery, accompanied by a threat, could have the courtroom closed simply because they have a fear of testifying. As indicated above, the right to a public trial belongs to the defendant, and cannot be overcome by the discomfort of the accuser to testify in public absent some pressing, overriding interest.

Next, the alleged posting to a witness’ Facebook page was likewise too attenuated to be a pressing threat. Moreover, the content of the purported contact belies the notion that

³ Although the affidavit of Regina also indicated a sibling of Appellant purportedly attempted to contact Deloris through Facebook and offer money not to testify, no such affidavit was provided by Deloris regarding the alleged contact. R. 473 (Court’s Ex. # 2).

was even a threat at all, much less that it was done by Appellant or at his direction. Finally, the third reason advanced by the State also falls well short of being a threat. Even assuming without conceding that the person making the contact was Appellant's sister, the content of the message was not a threat; rather, it was a plea for mercy. Also, it was purportedly made on Korey's social media page, not one belonging to Regina, Shamael, or Deloris. Therefore, the State's proffered reasons for closing the courtroom during the testimony of critical State witnesses failed to advance an overriding interest that is likely to be prejudiced. Presley, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S.Ct. at 724.

Second, the closure was broader than necessary to protect the interest offered by the State. Assuming without conceding that the State's facts actually advanced an overriding interest, the only people whom it believed it could identify as threatening the witnesses were Appellant (during the incident three years before the incident), and Appellant's sister. However, Appellant was shackled during his trial; thus, any residual "threat" he posed from his alleged words to the witnesses during the incident three years before the trial was effectively neutralized. R. 10, line 13—R. 11, line 13. Additionally, had Appellant's sister actually made a plea for mercy to Korey on his Facebook page, it was to Korey, not to any of the testifying witnesses. Thus, trial court erred because the closure was broader than necessary to protect the interest offered by the State.

Third, the trial court failed to consider any reasonable alternatives to closing the proceedings. For example, the trial court could have simply removed Appellant's sister during the testimony of Korey's sister, Shamael, rather than clearing the entire courtroom for the testimony of multiple, critical State witnesses both during the pre-trial suppression

hearing, and during the trial itself before the jury. Yet, without making an attempt to seek reasonable alternatives to closing the pre-trial Biggers hearing during the testimony of Regina, Shamael, and Deloris, or the trial testimony of Regina and Shamael, the trial court simply agreed with the State to close the proceedings. R. 30, lines 3-4. Consequently, the trial court erred by failing to consider any reasonable alternatives to closing the proceedings.

Fourth, the trial court failed to make findings adequate to support the closure. The only indication of the trial court's findings before it was actually done was as follows:

I don't know who is making all of these alleged threats, but
I'll grant the State's motion.

R. 30, lines 3-4. Based on the Court's ruling, (1) admitted it did not know who allegedly made contact with the State's witnesses, and (2) admitted the "threats" were merely alleged rather than substantiated; in other words, it did not even determine whether the purported contacts constituted threats to the State's witnesses before taking the drastic measure of closing the courtroom to the public during testimony of critical State witnesses. Thus, the trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to make findings adequate to support closure.

Indeed, the only glimpse of the trial court's reasoning appeared after Regina and Shamael testified at trial when the State again sought closure immediately before Toran testified. Specifically, the court denied closure for Toran because he was not a female with a child, and anonymity was not a concern because Toran was already charged with the same offenses:

I understand this is not a case of seeking anonymity as were
the first two, correct?

.....

[Toran] is a different—in a different situation than the
previous two women, and you know, we've got women with
children and here we have a codefendant.

R. 271, line 9—R. 272, line 24. As an initial matter, these findings by the trial court were made in support of its decision denying the State its motion to close the court for Toran's testimony, and not in support of its decision prior to closing the courtroom for Regina, Shamael, and Deloris.

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