①

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-202926

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RICKY S. BOWMAN,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA J. CATOE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 22 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-202926

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

obtain his Rule 403, SCACR, trial experiences to remain in the courtroom and also allowed a victim's advocate to remain in the courtroom. (R. p. 172, lines 13-20).

Subsequently, the State moved to also close the courtroom during the trial testimony of Sean Toran, a co-defendant of Appellant. (R. p. 271, line 9 – p. 273, line 1). The solicitor stated that Mr. Toran had completed an affidavit detailing the threats he had received and indicated Mr. Toran had received threatening phone calls. (R. p. 271, lines 14-22). The solicitor also stated that Mr. Toran was concerned about his safety and “would feel more free in his testimony” if Appellant’s family members were not in the courtroom “staring him down.” (R. p. 272, lines 12-16). The trial judge denied the request to close the courtroom, finding that Toran and the two victims were in entirely different positions since the victims were “women with children” and Toran was a co-defendant. (R. p. 272, lines 3-24). Appellant’s counsel made no comment during this exchange. (See R. p. 271-73).

After the close of all the testimony, Appellant’s counsel renewed his motion for mistrial based upon the solicitor’s comments in her opening statement regarding the fear of the victims, stating that he believed the solicitor’s comments, coupled with the fact that Appellant’s family members were removed during the testimony of two of the victims, warranted a mistrial. (R. p. 419-20). In response, the solicitor pointed out that the courtroom was cleared “without the jury even knowing what had happened,” and therefore, Appellant had not been prejudiced. (R. p. 420, line 23 – p. 421, line 2). The trial judge denied the motion for mistrial for the reasons he stated on the record previously. (R. p. 421, lines 10-12).

Issue Preservation

Appellant now argues on appeal that the trial judge erred by closing the courtroom during the pre-trial testimony of three State witnesses, and during the trial testimony of two State witnesses, because doing so violated Appellant's constitutional right to a public trial. This argument is not preserved for appellate review. The only two points Appellant raised below to the trial judge when he opposed the closure of the courtroom were that there was insufficient proof of threats by Appellant or his family members and that closure of the courtroom was prejudicial to Appellant because, if done in the presence of the jury, it would reinforce the notion that the witnesses were afraid of Appellant. (See R. p. 28-31; p. 144-45; p. 170-72; p. 420-21). Appellant never once mentioned a violation of his right to a public trial and never once mentioned the Sixth Amendment. Consequently, the issue raised on appeal regarding a violation of Appellant's constitutional right to a public trial is not preserved for appellate review. See In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) ("Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appeal."); State v. McWee, 322 S.C. 387, 391, 472 S.E.2d 235, 238 (1996) (where defendant failed to cite to a constitutional basis for his objection at trial, the constitutional issue raised on appeal was not preserved for review); State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 598, 611 S.E.2d 283, 289 (Ct. App. 2005) (constitutional arguments are not exempt from the error preservation rules); State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (citation omitted) (in order to preserve an alleged error for review, a specific objection must be made to alert the court regarding the precise nature of the error); State v. Dickman, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000) (citations omitted) (a party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on

appeal). Therefore, this Court must dismiss Appellant's Issue I on error preservation grounds.

The Sixth Amendment was not Violated

Even if the issue had been preserved, the State submits that there was no violation of Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to a public trial where there was no "closure" of the courtroom to the public as contemplated by Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209 (2010). See also Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39 (1984) and In re Oliver, 333 U.S. 257 (1948). In Presley, the judge closed the courtroom to all members of the public during the jury voir dire. See Presley at 210; see also United States v. Villagomez, 708 F.Supp.2d 1105, 1125 (D.N. Mariana Islands 2010). In Appellant's case, at least one member of the public - a lawyer watching the proceedings to obtain his Rule 403 trial experiences - was present during all of the proceedings, and Appellant's family members were excused from the courtroom for only a limited period of time.¹ (See R. p. 172, lines 13-20). See State v. Lormor, 172 Wash.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624, 629 (2011) (holding that "a 'closure' of a courtroom occurs when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may leave"). Thus, Appellant's trial was not a "secret trial" as proscribed by our Constitution. See In re Oliver at 266-73 (discussing the long-standing fear of secret trials as the foundation for the Sixth Amendment right to public trials); see also Caudill v. Peyton, 368 F.2d 563, 565 (4th Cir. 1966) (disapproving an *in camera* trial in the judge's chambers). Accordingly, since there was not a total "closure" of the courtroom to the public, Appellant's Sixth Amendment rights were not violated.

¹ Notably, Appellant's family members could have been sequestered had they been potential witnesses. See Rule 615, SCRE ("Exclusion of Witnesses").

Even if this Court finds that there was a closure in this case triggering the Sixth Amendment's protection, the test set forth in Presley v. Georgia may not be the appropriate test since any closure in this case was only partial and temporary. Inasmuch as partial closures do not implicate the same Sixth Amendment concerns as do total closures, and since there are no U.S. Supreme Court cases indicating how a court should address a partial closure, the U.S. Circuit Courts have developed a test specifically tailored to partial and temporary closures. See United States v. Deluca, 137 F.3d 24, 33-34 (1st Cir. 1998); Nieto v. Sullivan, 879 F.2d 743, 753 (10th Cir. 1989); United States v. Sherlock, 865 F.2d 1069, 1077 (9th Cir. 1989); Judd v. Haley, 250 F.3d 1308 (11th Cir. 2001); Woods v. Kuhlmann, 977 F.2d 74 (2d Cir. 1992); United States v. Osborne, 68 F.3d 94, 98-99 (5th Cir.1995); United States v. Farmer, 32 F.3d 369, 371 (8th Cir. 1994); see also Bell v. Jarvis, 236 F.3d 149, 168 (4th Cir. 2000). This test varies only slightly from the test set forth in Presley v. Georgia. Under the Presley test, (1) there must be an "overriding interest" that is likely to be prejudiced; (2) the closure must be no broader than necessary to protect that interest; (3) the trial judge must consider reasonable alternatives to closing the proceeding; and (4) the trial judge must make adequate findings to support the closure. Presley v. Georgia at 214 (citing Waller). The partial closure test created in the U.S. Circuit Courts is the same as the Presley test except that a "substantial reason" for the closure is required rather than an "overriding interest." See, e.g., United States v. Sherlock, 865 F.2d at 1076-77.

In Appellant's case, it is clear from the record that the trial judge agreed to partially close the courtroom during some of the testimony because he was concerned that the presence of Appellant's family members in the courtroom would inhibit the witnesses' truthful testimony, considering that the witnesses felt threatened by improper

pre-trial contact. A trial judge is accorded broad discretion in conducting a criminal trial, and the trial judge has a duty to help to ensure that the truth is ascertained. See State v. Vickers, 226 S.C. 301, 306, 84 S.E.2d 873, 876 (1954) (“The purpose of a trial in a criminal case is to ascertain the truth of the matters charged against the defendant, and it is a part of the business of the trial judge to see that this end is attained.”) (quoting State v. Furtick et al., 147 S.C. 82, 144 S.E. 839, 840 (1928)); State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 642 S.E.2d 582 (2007). (“[A] trial court is given enormous discretion in conducting a criminal trial.”); State v. Hawkins, 300 S.C. 225, 226, 387 S.E.2d 251 (1989); (“The wide discretion accorded presiding judges, embedded in the law of South Carolina, is essential to the orderly administration of justice.”); State v. Barton, 325 S.C. 522, 529, 481 S.E.2d 439, 443 (Ct. App. 1997) (“A trial judge has the inherent power to maintain order and decorum in his courtroom.”) (citations omitted).

Here, the “overriding interest” or “substantial reason” justifying a partial closure was ensuring that the witnesses felt free to testify truthfully regarding the facts without being inhibited by the presence of persons by whom they felt threatened. Similar concerns have been held to be sufficiently compelling reasons justifying closure of a proceeding. See, e.g., State v. Gee, 262, S.C. 373, 384-85, 204 S.E.2d 727, 731-32 (1974); State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 614, 274 S.E.2d 411, 414 (1981); United States Ex Rel. Laws v. Yeager, 448 F.2d 74, 80-81 (3d Cir. 1971); Woods v. Kuhlmann, 977 F.2d 74 (2d Cir. 1992); Nieto v. Sullivan, 879 F.2d 743, 753-54 (10th Cir. 1989); United States v. Farmer, 32 F.3d 369, 371 (8th Cir. 1994); U. S. ex rel. Bruno v. Herold, 408 F.2d 125 (2d Cir. 1969); Lowe v. State, 141 Ga.App. 433, 436, 233 S.E.2d 807, 809-810 (Ga. App. 1977); State v. Rusin, 153 Vt. 36, 40-41, 568 A.2d 403, 406 (1989); Hackett v.

State, 266 Ind. 103, 110-11, 360 N.E.2d 1000, 1004 (1977); People v Mack, 178 A.D.2d 661, 577 N.Y.S.2d 892 (2d Dep't 1991).

Second, the “closure” in this case was partial and only lasted for as long as was necessary. Further, arguably, there were no reasonable alternatives except for closure of the courtroom during the witnesses’ testimony, and the judge closed the courtroom outside the presence of the jury so that Appellant would not be prejudiced. Finally, although the trial judge could have been more explicit in his ruling, his intent is apparent from the record. However, if this court determines that the judge’s findings are insufficient, Respondent submits that a remand to the trial judge for further findings would be appropriate rather than reversal of the entire trial. See State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 629, 525 S.E.2d 246, 249 (2000); Timothy C. Doughtie Advertising, Inc. v. Nelsen Steel and Wire Co., Inc., 284 S.C. 27, 324 S.E.2d 329 (Ct. App. 1984); Golden Strip Motors, Inc. v. Pennsylvania Nat. Mut. Cas. Ins. Co., 288 S.C. 548, 343 S.E.2d 659 (Ct. App. 1986) (all holding that remand for further factual findings was appropriate where the trial court failed to rule on an issue); see also United States v. Galloway, 937 F.2d 542, 546-47 (10th Cir. 1991) (remanding Sixth Amendment issue to the district court with directions to supplement the record with the facts and reasoning upon which a partial closure of the courtroom was based, since granting a new trial without such findings being made would constitute a windfall and would not be in the public interest, especially where the defendant failed to object to the lack of findings by the district court); Yung v. Walker, 341 F.3d 104 (2d Cir. 2003) (remanding Sixth Amendment public trial issue to the district court for further findings); Kendrick v. State, 661 N.E.2d 1242 (Ind.App. 1996) (since the lower court failed to make adequate findings on the record regarding his

partial closure of the courtroom, case was remanded for trial court to enter specific findings).

Finally, even if this Court finds that the trial court committed error in closing the courtroom, this Court should conclude that this error was too trivial to violate the Sixth Amendment. Such a conclusion would not be without support. Some of the U.S. Circuit Courts, and some state courts, have adopted a “triviality exception” to the Sixth Amendment’s public trial guarantee. See, e.g., United States v. Perry, 479 F.3d 885, 889-91 (D.C. Cir. 2007); United States v. Gupta, 650 F.3d 863, 867-72 (2d Cir. 2011); Com. v. Alebord, 80 Mass.App.Ct. 432, 439-40, 953 N.E.2d 744 (Mass.App.Ct. 2011); Barrows v. U.S., 15 A.3d 673, 676-81 (D.C. 2011); Kelly v. State, 195 Md.App. 403, 420-29, 6 A.3d 396, 406-11 (Md.App. 2010). Further, in United States v. Gupta, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals determined that the triviality exception is consistent with the United States Supreme Court’s opinion in Presley v. Georgia. Gupta, 650 F.3d 863, 867-72 (2d Cir. 2011). Under the triviality exception, a court looks to whether the actions of the court, and the effect such actions had on the conduct of the trial, deprived the defendant – whether innocent or guilty – of the protections of the Sixth Amendment. See Gupta at 867. Thus, a determination that the exclusion was trivial means that the error was not significant enough to rise to the level of a constitutional violation. See id. The core values protected by the Sixth Amendment are examined, and whether a particular closure implicates the Sixth Amendment depends upon whether the closure undermines these values. Id. These core values are as follows: (1) to ensure a fair trial; (2) to remind the prosecutor and the judge of their responsibility to the accused and the importance of their functions; (3) to encourage witnesses to come forward; and (4) to

discourage perjury. Peterson v. Williams, 85 F.3d 39, 41-43 (2d Cir. 1996) (citing Waller at 46-47).

As discussed previously, a partial and temporary closure does not implicate the same Sixth Amendment concerns as does a total closure of the courtroom for the entire duration of a trial. In this case, the partial and temporary closure was too trivial to constitute a violation of Appellant's Sixth Amendment rights. The trial was not conducted in secret since at least one member of the public was present, and the core values of the Sixth Amendment were not subverted. In fact, the partial and temporary closure arguably furthered these core values because it allowed the witnesses to testify freely and fully without being inhibited by the presence of persons by whom they felt threatened. Accordingly, this Court should conclude that any error with respect to the closure of the courtroom in this case was trivial and did not violate Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to a public trial.

II. The specific arguments Appellant raises on appeal regarding the victims' identifications of Appellant are not preserved for review because these arguments were not made to the trial judge below. In any event, Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in admitting the victims' identifications is without merit where the identification process was not suggestive in any way and where the identifications were reliable under the totality of the circumstances.

Unduly Suggestive Identification Procedure

Appellant now asserts that the trial court should have suppressed the victims' identifications of Appellant, first arguing that "the identification process was unduly suggestive due to the circumstances under which the witnesses were called to the police station." (Brief of Appellant, p. 18). Specifically, Appellant contends that, where victim Delores testified that Investigator Pegram called her and asked her to come to the police station to "see if I could identify them," the identification process was "unduly

prejudicial” because the witnesses were “tainted by the investigator” who gave them the “expectation that suspects were arrested and only needed to be identified.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 19). However, Appellant never made this argument to the trial judge below.² (See R. p. 132-39). Accordingly, since the issue presented on appeal was not raised or ruled upon below, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. See, e.g., State v. Adams, 332 S.C. 139, 144, 504 S.E.2d 124, 126-27 (Ct. App. 1998) (argument not preserved for appeal where precise issue not presented to the trial court); State v. Dickman, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000) (a party may not argue one ground at trial and another ground on appeal).

Even if the issue had been properly preserved, Appellant’s contention that the lineup procedure was unduly suggestive is without merit. Appellant cites no case law supporting the proposition that Investigator Pegram’s comment to Delores regarding the reason for her coming to the police station - to see if she could identify the perpetrators - was improper.³ Appellant also fails to adequately explain why this comment would be “unduly suggestive,” especially considering that Investigator Pegram never told the victims that the perpetrator was necessarily in the photo lineup and never in any manner suggested which of the photographs the witnesses should pick. (See R. p. 60-64; p. 76-84; p. 88-92). Notably, in State v. Davis, our Supreme Court held that an officer’s instruction to the witness, made while handing a witness a photographic lineup, to “see if

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